1980

Melville L. Morris v. Dwane J. Sykes and Patricia Sykes : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by respondent asking the trial court for a mandatory injunction ordering the appellants to accept the unpaid balance due under a land purchase contract and to execute and deliver a warranty deed to the property to the respondent, or in the alternative, to relieve the respondent from the harshness of the retaking of the property by the seller without compensation to the buyer pursuant to the contract and asking the Court to order the appellants to return to respondent the money paid by respondent on the contract or such part as the Court might deem equitable.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried without a jury on June 14, 15 and 18, 1979, before the Honorable J. Robert Bullock sitting in

equity without a jury. The Court found in favor of the appellants and against the respondent on the demand for a mandatory injunction requiring delivery of title to the property. The Court found for the respondent and against the appellants holding that the retaking of the property by the appellants was an wholly unreasonable penalty and denying literal enforcement of the contract terms. The Court entered judgment requiring a reimbursement to the respondent buyer of \$14,121.54. Appellants filed a Motion to Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment or in the Alternative for a New Trial, which Motion was denied by the Court on December 24, 1979. The appellants appealed that decision of the Court and its denial of the Motion to Amend Findings or in the Alternative for a New Trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek to have the Court reverse the trial court, to apply the Alaska law to the case and to declare that the retaking of the property under all of the circumstances then existing was a reasonable application of the contract terms. Appellants seek to have this Court rule that the appellants did not receive anything more than that which they were entitled to under the contract and that respondent is not entitled to any recovery in this proceeding.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 3, 1974, the respondent, as buyer, entered into a real estate contract with the appellants, as sellers, (Ex. 1) for a tract of land of approximately 27 acres known as Tract "B" of the Musk Ox Subdivision located near Fairbanks, Alaska. The contract provided for a \$2,000.00 down payment and monthly payments of a minimum of \$350.00 commencing December 1, 1974. In addition to the monthly payments, the buyer was obligated by the contract to pay \$1,000.00 on November 1, 1974, \$5,000.00 on February 1, 1975, \$5,000.00 on August 1, 1975, and \$3,000.00 each succeeding February 1 and August 1 until November 1, 1978, when the entire unpaid balance would be due.

On the same day as the signing of the contract, the parties executed an escrow agreement, (Ex. 23) and on that day buyer and seller went to the office of attorney Gene Belland. At the office, appellant, Dwane Sykes, read the escrow instructions and documents prepared to be executed as Exhibit 23 to the respondent. (Testimony of Dwane Sykes, Record, 256: 5-10). The contract and the escrow instructions required that the payments under the contract would be paid to the First National Bank of Fairbanks, Alaska. Mr. Sykes informed the plaintiff that there was an existing mortgage on the property at the time of purchase and the agreements instructed the bank to apply any funds received to the payment of such mortgage upon the property. (Ex. 23, Escrow Instructions, paragraph 3, subparagraph

b; Record 256: 13-18). After the execution of the agreements, the appellant, Dwane Sykes, moved to the State of Utah. The respondent variously lived in Florida, California, and Brussels, Belgium. Payments were to be made to the escrow department of the First National Bank of Fairbanks pursuant to paragraph 2 of the real estate contract, (Ex. 1) and the escrow instructions (Ex. 23).

On November 16, 1975, appellant, Sykes, sent a letter to respondent enclosing a proposed contract of sale on two additional parcels upon which they had been negotiating. The respondent counteroffered to purchase Lot 13 only setting forth the terms. (Reply, Ex. 18).

On December 3, 1975, appellant, Sykes, responded (Ex. 2) accepting the counteroffer and enclosing a purchase contract for Lot 13 exactly as the counteroffer of respondent. Respondent never made the payments on Lot 13 as offered in writing (Ex. 18) and accepted by the appellant (Ex. 3). This failure to complete later became a problem in the parties' dealings. In that letter, (Ex. 2) appellant, Sykes, gave notice to the plaintiff by the second postscript that "Fairbanks bank indicates they have not received payments on the Musk Ox escrow 10557 (Ex. 23) and informed respondent that he was several months behind. Responding to the December 3, 1975 letter by a letter of December 17, 1975, (Ex. 19) respondent said, "Re: the February payment, will get it into bank as

early as I can. Also, I've written to the bank on being in arrears - my records indicate up to date currently, so upon their reply we can check out the discrepancy." [Emphasis supplied] The testimony of respondent shows that the payments recorded by the bank were the only payments paid. (Record 205: 14-23; Record 215: 6-12). It further shows that respondent made all the payments personally and not by any other person. (Record 220:6-12). Respondent knew he was delinquent at all times, (Record 220: 19-22; Record 211: 5-16) and that his letter claiming that his records showed him to be current, was a misrepresentation given to the appellant regarding his payments to the bank (Ex. 19).

On the 29th of December, 1975, Steve Arnold, appellant's accountant, wrote to the respondent (Ex. 3) regarding the delinquency in the escrow which informed respondent that at that time he was four month's delinquent and that by the time of the receipt of the letter, would be five month's delinquent at \$350.00 per month or \$1,750.00. That letter further informed him that appellant, Sykes, was depending upon the payments on the contract by respondent to meet Sykes commitments on the mortgage to First National Bank of Fairbanks and that it was subject to immediate termination of both his interests and Mr. Sykes if payments were not brought current. Exhibit 3(a) attached to that letter shows the calculations of payments received, compared to the payments due up through December of 1975.

On the same date, December 29, 1975, appellant wrote to the First National Bank Escrow Department, (Ex. 22 and Ex. 27) with a copy to respondent requesting and authorizing the escrow department to automatically make payments from the escrow to the note owed to First National Bank to keep the note current. He further informed respondent of the dependency of Mr. Sykes upon his monthly payments to meet the payments to the bank.

Respondent did not correct the \$1,750.00 delinquency as requested and on February 11, 1976, respondent, by letter to appellant, Sykes (Ex. 14) again misrepresented that the bank records were inaccurate and claiming that a \$700.00 and two \$350.00 checks were not reflected and that he had sent to the bank a tracer on these matters.

Because of the repeated claims by Mr. Morris that he had made payments that were not shown by the bank, Walt Hick, an accountant for Mr. Sykes, sent a communication to the bank with a copy to respondent attempting to verify if there was any differences in payments received and what the bank records showed (Ex. 21).

On September 2, 1976, the plaintiff requested a "good discount" for prepayment on the Musk Ox property and conditioned his purchase of Lots 13 and 14 at a lesser price upon obtaining a discount, if a discount acceptable to him could be allowed (Ex. 20).

On September 30 or October 2, 1976, respondent, in a telephone conversation with Dwane Sykes, conditioned payoff at the Musk Ox property upon obtaining a discount. Mr. Sykes denied that request (Record 80: 12-23; Record 166: 4-9). In that same telephone conversation, appellant Sykes informed respondent that it was very important that he keep the payments at the bank current because if he was delinquent, he would be terminated under the contract. Mr. Sykes informed respondent that Mr. Sykes' payments to the bank were 100 percent dependent upon respondent's payments to the escrow account under the purchase agreement. Respondent informed Mr. Sykes that he would personally go into the bank and verify his escrow account status and bring it current (Record 165-167; Record 80: 2-16).

On October 14, 1976, the respondent telephoned appellant Sykes at Orem, Utah and Dennis Sykes, appellant's brother, got on the extension telephone and overheard and described the conversation in his deposition (Record 82). Respondent again asked for a \$1,000.00 discount as a condition of prepayment on the Musk Ox contract. Dwane Sykes declined to give the discount. Dwane Sykes again told respondent that the accountant's records in Utah showed respondent delinquent and that the bank had not provided any information to verify or refute that (Record 83: 6-8). Respondent misrepresented

that he had been into the bank and had already brought his payments completely current, "having just within the past few days paid a major amount covering some months, receipts of which perhaps had not reached Utah through the mails" (Record 83: 9-13). The record of payments paid show that no payments were paid by respondent after August 2, 1976 (Ex. 5). Respondent again misrepresented to Mr. Sykes payments ostensibly made in Alaska (Record 82: 8-12). In that conversation, Dwane Sykes informed the respondent that he would not permit any delinquency on his Musk Ox sale to respondent (Record 83: 21-23).

In early November, Mr. Sykes learned that respondent was seriously delinquent on the payments on the Musk Ox property and that respondent had not made payments in October as he had represented. Respondent had not kept the contract current nor had he brought any payments current over the entire period of the contract. Appellant further learned that respondent's representations had all been false representations of payments which respondent knew had not been paid (Record 83: 26-32; Record 84: 1-4).

On November 11, 1976, appellant's accountant, Walt Hick, served the notice of termination under the contract on the bank with copies to respondent, both in Mango, Florida and Brussels, Belgium (Ex. 4).

After the termination, appellant, Sykes, offered reinstatement of the Musk Ox contract by a telephone conversation between Sykes and Morris on November 18, 1976. That offer of reinstatement was confirmed by a reply message (Ex. 29) of November 19, 1976. The respondent declined to reinstate.

By a letter dated November 24, 1976 (Ex. 28) the bank demanded payment of a delinquency of \$1,573.87 plus \$339.39 interest by December 8, 1976.

On December 27, 1976 appellant's attorney wrote to the respondent (Ex. 19) offering reinstatement and setting forth the requirements for bringing the account current, and set January 25, 1977 as the expiration of the offer of reinstatement.

On the 18th of January, 1977, the respondent declined the reinstatement and said he found the terms unacceptable (Ex. 11). No tender of any payment to bring the contract current or to make any payments under the contract were ever made by the respondent (Record 224: 24-30). On the same date, January 18, 1977, appellant's attorney sent a further letter to respondent (Ex. 25) reiterating the privilege of reinstatement and the expiration date of reinstatement offer for January 25, 1977.

On January 28, 1977, appellant's attorney again wrote to the respondent reminding him of the reinstatement offers made on the 18th of November, 1976 in a telephone

call with Mr. Sykes, the reiteration of that offer in the November 19 Memo from Mr. Sykes to respondent (Ex. 29); the reinstatement offer of December 27, 1976; and informed him that if he did not wish to reinstate, that was up to him but, since he had passed the January 25, 1977 expiration date of the reinstatement offer, the presumption of the appellants was that he did not wish to reinstate. Respondent never communicated an answer to appellant's attorney.

On February 9, 1977, the bank informed Mr. Sykes that unless the \$3,318.68 delinquency was paid within thirty (30) days, that the bank would declare the entire unpaid balance on the mortgage due and accelerate the note and foreclose the deed of trust immediately (Ex. 30).

The Sykes were thus faced with an imminent foreclosure of their Musk Ox property by the bank under its trust deed. They were located in Utah and the property was in Fairbanks, Alaska. It was mid-winter and the property was totally inaccessible. Mr. Sykes attempted to refinance the mortgage payment to pay the bank out (Record 299: 1; Record 300: 20-30). Appellants, after several attempts to sell the property, obtained a sale of the property to the only market available, a buyer who had previously purchased property from appellants and would rely upon their statement as to the property without an examination of it. They sold the property under such distress circumstances to John Iverson, their

brother-in-law, for the unpaid balance owed by the respondent upon the purchase contract. No windfall profits were obtained by the appellants as a result of the sale. They only received what they would have received had the respondent completed the payments under his contract.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT MISAPPLIED THE ALASKA LAW ON FORFEITURE AND DAMAGES.

In this matter the trial court indicated that the law of Alaska was the applicable law, but indicated that the Court did not believe that the Alaska law was significantly different than Utah law. Thereafter, the trial court dealt with the case on the basis of applying established principles of law under Utah decisions more familiar to the Court. The Utah Court in applying Utah law has never applied a strict forfeiture in a real estate contract. It has applied various formulas requiring the Court to take into account the reasonable rental value for the period of time the purchaser has been in possession of the property, interest which could have been earned had the payments been met, damages to the property and loss of bargain. This Court, applying Utah law, has generally allowed a refund to the defaulting purchaser for the excess over the reasonable damages of the vendor calculated under a variety of formulas which is considered to be a windfall to the vendor and reimbursable to the vendee.

Alaskan law is considerably different than Utah law. The Alaska Court does recognize the right of a vendor to enforce the provisions of a forfeiture in the event of default by the vendee. In 1967 the Alaska Court, speaking in Lonas v. Metropolitan Mortgage and Securities Co., 432 P.2d 603 (1967) construed a real estate contract containing a provision almost identical to the contract provision on forfeiture contained in the contract which is the subject matter of this action (Ex. 1). The provision in the Lonas case reads at page 605:

Time is of the essence of this contract, and in case of failure of the said purchasers to make either of the payments or perform any of the covenants on their part, this contract shall be forfeited and determined at the election of the said vendor; and the said purchasers shall forfeit all payments made by them on this contract and all rights acquired hereunder, and such payments shall be retained by the said vendor as liquidated damages, and they shall have the right to re-enter and take possession of said land and premises and every part thereof.

In the case now before the Court, the contract provision read:

Time is of the essence of this contract, and in the event of failure of buyer to make any payment falling due hereunder within thirty days after due date thereof, or to abide any other obligation herein-undertaken, the seller may, at any time while such failure continues, terminate this contract and all purchase rights herein afforded to buyer, and pursuant thereto may re-enter and retake possession of said real estate, and all payments made theretofore shall be retained by the seller as liquidated damages for failure of performance hereunder by the buyer.

The Alaska Court stated in the Lonas case at page

605:

The forfeiture provision is not made exclusive. In such a case, the seller is entitled to pursue, in addition to the remedy specifically mentioned in the contract, any other remedy which the law affords. The seller in this case was not limited to the remedy of forfeiture of the contract, but could seek judgment for monies past due and for specific performance. [Emphasis supplied]

The Alaska law thus makes it clear that the seller is entitled to the remedy provided in the contract, of forfeiture of the contract, if he so elects.

In Alaska Placer Company v. Richard E. Lee, Alaska, 455 P.2d 218 (1969) the Alaska Supreme Court distinguished the earlier cases of Land Development, Inc. v. Padgett, 369 P.2d 888 (Alaska 1962) and Jameson v. Wurtz, 396 P.2d 68 (Alaska 1964) which the court said stood for the proposition that under some circumstances it may be inequitable to enforce a forfeiture because the loss to the buyers would be all out of proportion to the injury to the seller, and held in that case at page 229:

This is not a case where appellant sat idly by, registered no objections, and then attempted to forfeit appellees' interest under the contract at a time when it was too late for appellees to remedy their failure to perform.

and further said:

We find that there was not a waiver by appellant of its right of forfeiture under the contract. Nor did the notice of forfeiture come too late to be effective.

Thus, the Alaska Court recognizes the right of the vendor to forfeit out the interest of the vendee when the losses of the vendor are not disproportionate to those of the vendee.

In the case now before the Court, the forfeiture and subsequent sale of the property by the vendor, appellant Sykes, produced less than the amount of funds that would have been produced had the vendee made his payments as required by the contract and the determination by the trial court to refund monies paid by the vendee imposed all of the losses in the matter upon the vendor and none upon the vendee, who was the defaulting party in the matter.

In the 1972 case of McCormick v. Grove, Alaska 495 P.2d 1268, the Alaska Supreme Court held that the trial court properly had the discretion to refuse to enforce the forfeiture because, "the sellers never 'hinted' that they would terminate because of the late payments." In the case now before the Court, not only had the sellers sent two notices citing the delinquencies and informing buyers they were subject to termination (Exs. 2 and 3) but had several telephone communications repeatedly making demands to keep the accounts current, indicating the failure to do so would cause termination of the contract. (Record 80: 12-23; Record 166:4-9; Record 82: 8-12; Record 83: 6-23)

The case cited in the Lonas case of Land Development, Inc. v. Padgett, supra., was decided in 1962 and in that case

the buyers had paid \$9,500.00, leaving a balance due of only \$2,400.00. The Court refused to enforce literally the forfeiture provision of the contract and this was upheld by the Supreme Court. The Court noting that the vendor's rights "...were fully protected; for if the buyers failed to pay the balance owing by the time specified in the judgment, then their interest in the property would then be entirely forfeited and the seller would regain possession." Id. 889 [Emphasis added] In the circumstance before the Court, the bank had served upon the seller-appellant notice of intended forfeiture and foreclosure of the trust deed owed by seller to First National Bank of Fairbanks. In the event of such foreclosure by the bank upon the seller as a result of buyers defaults, seller would have lost all interest in the property. Vendors' rights were not fully protected as in Land Development v. Padgett, supra. In this matter, seller-appellant did not obtain by the sale to Iverson more than what he would have obtained had the respondent-buyer met his payments. In the Land Development, Inc. v. Padgett case, supra., the Court said that the reason the trial court has been justified in refusing to enforce the forfeiture provision was because there was no anticipated losses to seller and the losses to buyer were out of proportion. In this case, the effect of the trial court's ruling was to impose all loss on the appellant-sellers with no loss to the respondent-buyer.

The other case cited by the Alaska court in support of the proposition that the Court under certain circumstances,

has the discretion to ignore the contract provision, was Jamison v. Wurtz, supra., where the Court held that where the vendor had received 88.3% of the total purchase price and where the purchaser had tendered the balance of the purchase price into the Court at the time of institution of the suit, that it would have been inequitable for the Court to have enforced the literal provisions of the forfeiture under the contract. That is not the circumstances in the case now before the Court.

The Supreme Court of Alaska has further ruled that the ultimate aim of the Court rendering a decision where a vendee has defaulted in payments upon a land purchase contract in an equity proceeding challenging whether or not a forfeiture is to be allowed is exemplified in Ward v. Union Bond and Trust Co., 243 F.2d 476 (1957) wherein the court said at page 480:

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