1980

Melville L. Morris v. Dwane J. Sykes and Patricia Sykes : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Appellants sent written communications to respondent on December 3, 1975, advising that payments were several months behind and on December 29, 1975, advising that the last monthly payments made were for July and August of 1975, and that appellants' loan at the bank was delinquent because of respondent's delinquency and subject to termination which the bank could initiate at any moment. No subsequent written notice

was given to respondent regarding the contract delinquency, and appellants continued to accept late payments.

Between October 3, 1974 and August 2, 1976, respondent made some fourteen payments totaling \$23,216.72 of which \$3,507.38 was in payment of interest and \$19,709.34 was applied to principal. The unpaid contract balance after the August 2, 1976 payment was \$20,290.66.

Respondent testified that in August 1976, he decided to try to refinance the contract, went to the escrow bank in early September and received tentative approval for a loan to pay off the contract; and on October 5, 1976 signed a note, and trust deed for the loan and furnished the bank with an updated title report, a current appraisal and a financial statement. (Exhs. 6, 7) There is a conflict in the testimony as to when the request was made, but respondent called appellant, Dwane Sykes, and advised him of the pending refinancing of the contract and that the bank wanted a written authorization from appellant to use funds paid by the respondent on contract to pay off appellants' trust deed to the bank (R173:4-8; R308:21-29; R309:21-23). Appellant, Dwane Sykes, agreed to give such authorization (although he contended the bank did not need it) after respondent signed a contract for the purchase of two other lots, designated as Lots 13 and 14 (R173:20-26). Appellant agreed to send the contract for the two lots to respondent. There followed a series of phone calls over a period of weeks

from respondent to appellant asking if the contract had been sent, to which calls appellant apologized for the delay and promised to send the contract.

On November 15, 1976, the contract for lots 13 and 14 at a purchase price of \$20,000.00 was received in the mail by respondent who was then in California. Respondent signed the contract on November 16, 1976, and mailed it back that day with his check for \$3,000.00 down payment (R195:6-30) (Exh. 9). Appellant subsequently rejected the offer made by respondent in the contract (R199:17-23) (Exh. 10).

On November 11, 1976, appellants caused a Notice of Termination of the contract on the Musk Ox property (Exh. 4) to be issued and sent to the respondent who received it on November 17, 1976. Appellants closed the escrow at the bank, withdrew the documents and latter recorded the quit claim deed from respondent to appellants which had been part of the escrow documents.

On November 17, 1976, respondent called appellant concerning the Notice of Termination; appellant professed no knowledge of it but later confirmed it had been given because of respondent's delinquency.

Up until the receipt of the Notice of Termination, respondent was telephoning appellant repeatedly attempting to get the authorization requested by the bank to complete the refinancing and pay off the contract. Appellant never gave the requested authorization (R175:9-15; 176:6-20).

The property at the time of the termination was worth as much as it had been sold for to respondent, i.e., \$40,000.00 (R177:23-25).

On February 9, 1977, the bank sent a letter to the appellants advising them that their loan was delinquent and demanding payment of the delinquent amounts within thirty (30) days or the bank would accelerate the obligation and foreclose its trust deed (Exh. 30).

On February 15, 1977, appellants entered into an Earnest Money Agreement for the sale of the Musk Ox property to Johnny Iverson and by a deed dated February 15, 1977 and delivered to Iverson in early April 1977, conveyed the property to Iverson. The purchase price was \$20,663.38 (approximately one-half the value of the property) payable \$8,000.00 cash and assumption of the trust deed obligation at the bank in the amount of \$12,663.38. Johnny Iverson was the brother-in-law of appellants (R302:21-24; R303:17-25).

During the period between the receipt of the Notice of Termination and the agreement to sell the property to Iverson, negotiations were taking place between appellant and respondent to permit respondent to reinstate the delinquent contract. A condition of reinstatement in each instance required respondent to purchase the two other lots, 13 and 14, for \$25,000.00. These are the same lots appellants sent the contract to respondent on for \$20,000.00. Respondent declined to reinstate on those conditions (Exh. 10 and R178:10-30; R179:1-26).

By Notice of Default and Election to Sell dated July 18, 1977, the trustee in the trust deed given to the bank by appellants gave notice that the property would be sold on October 19, 1977 (Exh. 31).

The Musk Ox property was vacant and in its unimproved state would produce no income. According to appellants' testimony the use of the property was worth approximately \$500 to \$600 a year.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE ALASKA LAW ON FORFEITURE AND DAMAGES

Respondent believes that Points II and III of appellants' brief are included in the subject matter of Point I; so, respondent's brief will treat Points I, II and III together.

In this matter the trial court indicated that the law of Alaska was the applicable law, but indicated that the Court did not believe that the Alaska law was significantly different from Utah law.

The trial court was correct in its application of Alaska law and was also correct in concluding Alaska law was not significantly different from Utah law so far as refusing to enforce a forfeiture which would be inequitable.

Utah Courts have adopted some guidelines regarding forfeiture in land purchase contracts which appear to be absent from case law in Alaska, but neither Court has allowed a strict

forfeiture which violated fundamental principles of equity and fair dealing.

In the case of Land Development, Inc. vs. Padgett, 369 P.2d 888 (Alaska 1962) the Court refused to enforce literally the forfeiture provision of the contract and adopted a rule which remains the law in Alaska that where the equities so indicate, the Court is justified in refusing to enforce a forfeiture provision of a contract. In that case, the buyers had paid principal and interest in the amount of \$9,500.00, leaving a balance due on principal of \$2,435.00.

In Jameson vs. Wurtz, 396 P.2d 68 (Alaska 1964) in reversing the lower court which had denied the purchaser specific performance of a long term real estate contract the Court stated at page 74:

"Moreover in Land Development, Inc. vs. Padgett, this Court has established by case rule in Alaska the further principle that where the contract involves land the buyer will be relieved from strict forfeiture if enforcement of the forfeiture would cause a loss to him all out of proportion to any injury that might be sustained by the seller.

In the Jameson case, the Court also stated at Page 74:

"Also to be considered is the principal that equity abhors a forfeiture and will seize upon slight circumstances to relieve a party therefrom. Speaking on this principle the Supreme Court of the United States has said:

'Forfeitures are not favored in the law. They are often the means of great oppression and injustice. And, where adequate compensation can be made, the law in many cases, and equity in all cases, discharges the forfeiture, upon such compensation being made . . . '".

The Court also recognized the legal principle approved by the Supreme Court of Oklahoma in Shull vs. Welch, (387 P.2d 606) that:

"In an equitable action, the presumption is in favor of the correctness of the finding of the trial court, and it will not be set aside unless against the clear weight of the evidence".

In the matter before this Court, the trial court awarded to the appellants compensation of \$3500.00, and interest on the contract balance from the date of the last payment, August 2, 1976 to August 15, 1977, although the contract was terminated November 11, 1976 (R109: 6 a, b, c). This in the opinion of the trial court constituted adequate compensation to the appellant.

In Williams vs. DeLay, 395 P.2d 839 (Alaska 1964), the Court after dealing with points of law and a line of cases from other jurisdictions stated at page 846:

"The foregoing may be acceptable principles of law in their place, but in Alaska we are committed to the rule announced in our decision in the case of Land Development, Inc. vs. Padgett that the trial court may refuse to enforce literally the forfeiture provisions of a real estate contract, for this is a matter of discretion which is directly related to the equities of the situation."

In Moran vs. Holman, 501 P.2d, 769, although (Alaska 1972) the buyer had made only six monthly payments in the course of 16 months and had defaulted in other provisions of the contract, the trial court refused to enforce the forfeiture provisions of the contract. At page 771 the Court states:

"While the Court has so far refused to enforce the forfeiture provisions of an installment land contract only in cases involving more sizeable investments by the vendee prior to the vendor's invocation of the forfeiture, we did not intend in Padgett, DeLay, Jameson, or McCormick to promulgate a purely quantitative rule. Rather, we adopted the position espoused by the United States Supreme Court in Knickerbocker Life Insurance Company vs. Norton, 96 US 234, that

'where adequate compensation can be made - - equity - - discharges the forfeiture, upon such compensation being made'.

"The primary consideration for a Court faced with a choice between specific performance and enforcement of a forfeiture clause was stated well in Ward vs. Union Bond and Trust Company, 243 Federal 2d. 476:

"The ultimate aim in these proceedings in equity must be to save the respective parties harmless from loss or damage and, if just and equitable, place them in the status quo of their contract so as to permit them as vendor and vendee to each have the benefit of their respective bargains, voluntarily entered into - - - not to be measured in the light or economics of subsequent events, but as of the day of the contract'".

The one Alaska case which permits a strict forfeiture is Alaska Placer Company vs. Lee, 455 P.2d 218 (Alaska 1969) and is a case in which the purchase price was \$400,000.00; the buyer had paid only \$2,500.00 and had defaulted in other provisions of the contract. In that case the Court stated at Page 227:

"Considering the very small percentage of the total purchase price paid by Lee, the fact that in prior years Lee had failed to put the mining claims in production, and the fact that appellant was counting

on Lee to produce in 1965, which he did not do, we do not consider it inequitable to enforce the forfeiture clause of the contract according to its terms."

Appellants cite the case of Lonas vs. Metropolitan Mortgage and Securities Company, 432 P.2d 603 (Alaska 1967) as authority for the proposition that the Alaska law allows enforcement of a forfeiture if that remedy is provided in the contract. The case does not go into the matters of the equities involved or the loss sustained by each of the parties in the event of forfeiture. This case really stands for the proposition that a forfeiture provision in a contract, unless made the exclusive remedy by the contract itself, does not exclude the pursuit of any other remedy which the law affords. In that case the Court states at page 605:

"The forfeiture provision is not made exclusive. In such a case, the seller is entitled to pursue in addition to the remedy specifically mentioned in the contract, any other remedy which the law affords."

In the instant case, the trial court found that over a period of 22 months respondent made some 14 payments totaling \$23,216.72, leaving an unpaid contract balance of \$20,290.66. The Court then applied the Alaska law and in its discretion denied the enforcement of forfeiture provision of the contract as being inequitable under the circumstances, but in keeping with the Moran and Knickerbocker cases (supra) awarded to the appellants

which the Court considered to be adequate compensation in the matter.

Appellants in point II of their brief contend that notwithstanding the plaintiff's repeated defaults and misrepresentations, the trial court erroneously refused to enforce the contract terms for termination of contract rights.

The trial court did not refuse to enforce the contract terms for termination of contract rights; the trial court allowed the termination to stand but refused to allow appellants to retain all the payments made by respondent as liquidated damages because the Court found that to do so would be an inequitable forfeiture.

Appellants go to considerable detail to show that respondent had not done equity and could not ask the Court to grant equity to him, but appellants in their brief fail to state that up until the termination of the contract, negotiations were taking place between the parties for paying off the contract through respondent's making a loan from the bank.

Respondent notified appellants he had been to the bank to get a loan to pay off the contract and asked respondent to give the bank written authorization, requested by the bank, to use proceeds from the payoff of the contract to pay appellants' obligation to the bank.

The appellants never did furnish the requested authorization. Instead, appellants agreed to send such authorization

after respondent had signed a contract to purchase two other lots. Before the contract on the two lots was received by respondent for signature, the Notice of Termination had already been issued.

One who frustrates the performance of a contract by his own conduct - the setting of conditions he has no legal right to assert - cannot in equity ask the Court to find he comes into Court with clean hands and grant him relief at the expense of the other party.

The trial court had all this before it together with evidence of respondent's defaults and so-called misrepresentations, and based on all the facts concluded that to enforce the forfeiture provision and permit the appellants to take back the property worth as much as it was worth when it was sold to the respondent and to retain the entire \$23,216.72 paid by respondent would be inequitable.

It is respondent's position that when appellants terminated the contract and took the property back they made an election; they knew what they were getting; they knew the trust deed they had given on the property to the bank was delinquent. They then had the property worth at least as much as it had been sold for to respondent; they had some \$23,000.00 of respondent's money. To allow them to retain both would be inequitable.

Appellants argue that to require them to return part of the money paid by respondent would be to reward the defaulting party at the expense of the party not in default.

In arriving at this position, appellants further argue that they were forced to sell the property at half its value or what was owed by respondent on the contract.

Respondent at the trial unsuccessfully objected to evidence of the so-called distress sale, maintaining that the rights and equities of the parties were fixed when the contract was terminated.

But even in the light of such evidence, there are defects in appellants' argument:

1. Appellants did not have to sell the property, at the time they did under the adverse circumstances of wintertime. The Notice of Default and Election to Sell given on behalf of the bank which held appellants' trust deed was not given until July 18, 1977 and the sale, as set in the notice, was not to take place until October 19, 1977. Appellants would have had the time from November 11, 1976, when they terminated the contract, until October 19, 1977 in which to sell the property at a fair price.

2. The purchaser at what the appellants contend to be a distress sale by them for one-half the value of the property was to appellants' brother-in-law. This cannot, in an equity matter be considered as an arms length, fair transaction.

This entire approach is contrary to the principle set forth in the Ward case (supra) that the aim of "proceedings in equity must be to save the parties harmless from loss or damage,

and if just and equitable, place them in the status quo of their contract to permit them to have the benefit of their respective bargains, voluntarily entered into --- not to be measured in the light or economics of subsequent events, but as of the day of contract". (Emphasis added)

POINT II

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN RULING THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO NOTICE OF THE INTENDED SALE AND REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY TO MAKE DEFENDANT WHOLE BEFORE THE SALE WAS MADE.

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